
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

In accordance with the statutes of the State of Illinois and the ordinances of the City of Highland Park, a 
Regular Meeting of the Historic Preservation Commission of the City of Highland Park is scheduled to 
be held at the hour of 7:30 p.m., Thursday, May 12, 2011, at Highland Park City Hall, 1707 St. Johns 
Avenue, Highland Park, Illinois, during which meeting there will be a discussion of the following: 
 

City of Highland Park 
Historic Preservation Commission 

Thursday, May 12, 2011 
1707 St. Johns Avenue, City Hall 

7:30 p.m. 
 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 

 
I. Call to Order 
 
II. Roll Call 

 
III. Approval of Minutes 

 
A. April 14, 2011  
B. April 27, 2011 Special Meeting 

 
IV. Scheduled Business 

 
A. Demolition Application 

1. 1346 Waverly Road (Continued from 4.14.11 Meeting) 
2. 115 South Deere Park Drive 
3. 521 Clavey Lane 

  
B. Request to Remove Local Landmark Designation 

1. 434 Marshman Road 
 
 

V. Other Business 
 

A. Next meeting scheduled for June 9, 2011 
 

VI. Adjournment 
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City of Highland Park 
Historic Preservation Commission 

Minutes of April 14, 2011 
7:30 p.m. 

 
I. Call to Order 

 
Chairwoman Sogin called to order the Regular Meeting of the Historic Preservation Commission at 
7:30 p.m. in the City Hall Pre-Session Room at 1707 St. Johns Avenue, Highland Park, IL.   
 

II. Roll Call 
 

Members Present: Sogin, Bramson, Curran, Fradin, Temkin  
   
Members Absent:   Rotholz 

 
Ex-officio Members Absent:  Johnas (7:37) 
 
City Council Liaison Present: Rotering 
 
City Staff Present: Cross, Sloan 
 
Others Present: Andriy Voloshchuk (1065 County Line Road), Matt Pollack, Cal 

Bernstein, Andrew Kassof (1346 Waverly Road) 
 

III. Scheduled Business 
 

A. Approval of Minutes 
 

Chairwoman Sogin asked for approval of the minutes of the March 3 and March 10, 2011 HPC 
Meetings.  Commissioner Temkin made a motion to approve both sets of minutes as submitted.  
Commissioner Bramson seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a unanimous vote (5-
0) 
 

      B.  Demolition Application – 1065 County Line Road 
 

Staff presented a summary of the structure and situation regarding the internal demolition at 1065 
County Line Road.  Last year, the owners applied for permits to add a two-story addition onto the 
house.  Calculations submitted to the Building Department indicated that 49% of the interior 
would be demolished as part of the renovation and addition, which falls beneath the 50% threshold 
that constitutes the demolition of a structure.  However, after construction of the addition had 
begun, the scope of the permits was exceeded due to the removal of interior walls that were 
damaged by exposure to an open exterior wall.  Since the permits issued for the addition were on 
the threshold of the 50% demolition rule, the removal of the damaged interior caused the home to 
be considered completely demolished, and therefore the renovation is considered a new home.  
The scope of work has had to be amended to reflect the demolition in excess of 50%, so the 
renovation/addition project is subject to the Historic Preservation Commission’s demolition delay 
review. 
 
The architect of the original 1951 house was Emerson Edw. Raymond, and the house does not 
appear in any of the City’s Historical and Architectural Surveys.  The applicant indicated that 
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much of the existing brick was either remaining on the house, or would be replaced after being 
removed for renovation work.   
 

 Commissioner Fradin made a motion finding that the house does not meet any of the 
Landmark Criteria in Chapter 24.   

 Second: Commissioner Bramson 
 Vote:  5-0  Motion passes 
 

 
C.  Demolition Application – 1346 Waverly Road 

 
Staff presented historical research on the property.  With the help of Julia Johnas, staff found that 
the house was originally built in 1911 by Davie Pate, a magnate in the lumber business.  In 1925 
the house was purchased by Samuel Hastings, a former mayor of Highland Park.  Staff presented 
biographic information on Mr. Hastings.  In 1950 the house was purchased by Louis Duman, who 
resided there until his passing in 1990.  Staff also presented biographical information on Mr. 
Duman.  Duman had major renovations and additions done to the structure in 1960 and 1987.  The 
additions were designed by Swanson & Associates and Grunsfeld & Associates respectively and 
severely altered the appearance of the original design. 
 
Commissioner Fradin asked how long the house had been on the market.  The applicant indicated 
it had been for sale for about two months.  Commissioner Sogin verified that the lot was still 1.7 
acres in size and had not been subdivided. 
 
The Commission discussed the possibility that the original house had been designed by George 
Maher.  Commissioner Temkin indicated she would not feel comfortable moving forward with an 
approval for demolition until it could be ascertained whether or not Maher had designed the house.  
Commissioner Curran agreed.  Commissioner Temkin volunteered to research the architect at the 
Burnham Library in Chicago to verify if he had designed 1346 Waverly. 
 

 Commissioner Curran made a motion to continue the item pending further research on 
the original architect.  

 Second: Commissioner Temkin 
 Vote:  5-0  Motion passes 

 
 
IV. Other Business 

 
V. Adjournment 

 
Commissioner Fradin made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Temkin.  The motion carried unanimously (5-0) 

   
The meeting adjourned at 8:15 pm. 
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City of Highland Park 
Historic Preservation Commission 

Minutes of April 27, 2011 
Special Meeting 

2:00 p.m. 
 
I. Call to Order 

 
Members and Guests of the Commission convened at 1346 Waverly Road at 2:00 p.m. 
 

II. Roll Call 
 

Members Present: Sogin, Temkin  
   
Members Absent:   Rotholz, Curran, Bramson, Fradin 

 
Ex-officio Members Present: Axelrod, Benjamin 
 
City Staff Present: Cross 
 
Others Present: Kathy Cummings, Matt Pollack, Janice Kirchner, Maxine 

Goldberg, 
 

III. Scheduled Business 
 

A. House Tour 
 

Guests toured the interior of 1346 Waverly Road to evaluate how much of the original George 
Maher design remained intact.      
 

IV. Adjournment 
 

The tour concluded at 2:35 pm. 
 



MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  May 12, 2011 
 
To:  Historic Preservation Commission 
 
From: Andy Cross, Planner II 
   
Subject: Proposed Demolition of 1346 Waverly Place 

 

 
 

 
The Historic Preservation Commission discussed this demolition request at the meeting on April 
14, 2011.  The discussion centered around the original design of the house from 1911 and how 
much impact the two major additions in 1960 and 1987 had changed it.  The Commission 
requested additional information to determine whether or not George Maher was the original 
architect of the house.  Research offered by historian Kathy Cummings in the days following the 
meeting verified that George Maher had designed the house for David and Catherine Pate back 
in 1911.  A write-up in the 1913 edition of American Carpenter & Builder has information about 
the house and photos of how the house appeared 100 years ago.  The brief article is included in 

Address: 1346 Waverly Place 
Built: c. 1915 
Style: Contemporary 

Structure: Single Family Residence 

Architect: Original Architect Unknown 

Significant 
Features: 

 Home of Samuel Hastings, 
former mayor of Highland 
Park (1925 – 1942) 

 Home of Louis Duman, 
philanthropist and 
businessman (1943 – 2009) 

Alterations: 

 Addition / Remodel (1960) 
by Swanson & Assoc. 

 Addition (1987) by Grunfeld 
& Assoc. 

 Indoor Spa / Pool (2002) by 
Grunsfeld Schafer 

Staff 
Opinion: 

Staff recommends that the 
Commission discuss the structure at 
1346 Waverly Place and how it may 
satisfy any of the landmark criteria 
listed below. 



the attachments to this memo. 
 
Although it was evident that the two major additions / renovations left little of the original design 
on the exterior, the Commission expressed an interest in viewing the interior of the house to see 
if any of the original Maher design had been preserved.  The owner of the house accommodated 
the request for a tour and made the house available on April 27th for members of the 
Commission.   Those who were present can share their findings at the May 12th HPC meeting. 
 
As before, the Commission is asked to review the structure per the Landmark Criteria.  If the 
Historic Preservation Commission determines that the subject Structure satisfies “one or two of 
the Landmark Standards, then the Commission shall have a 180-day review period, commencing 
on the Application Completion Date, within which to receive applications for Landmark 
nominations for the Structure.” (Chapter 170 of the City Code) 
 
The staff report and research for 1346 Waverly Place is presented below as it appeared at the 
April 14th Historic Preservation Commission meeting: 
 
 
According to the Granacki Historical and Architectural Survey, the house has an NC – Non-
Contributing Historical Status, but research has uncovered some interesting history on the 
property. 
 
The Lake County Assessor’s Office lists this house as having been built in 1915, which precedes 
the City’s building permit archive.  Staff located a 1925 building permit for a garage on the 
property.  The owner of the house is listed as Samuel M. Hastings, who was the mayor of 
Highland Park from 1915 – 1927.   
 
Samuel Hastings was among the City’s most influential mayors.  The City of Highland Park was 
just 46 years old when he was elected mayor.  The city’s government was up to that point 
organized with less-defined offices and responsibilities.  Mayor Hastings believed that “the city 
should be conducted along the lines of modern business methods…The administration under the 
[new] commission form of government is divided into five departments, each assigned the 
responsibilities and the employees which come within its jurisdiction.”  Employees were hired to 
work in certain areas and tasked with specific departmental services. 
 
Citizen involvement was a crucial element in Hastings’ mayoral leadership.  As stated in Pioneer 
to Commuter: The Story of Highland Park (1958), “Mayor Hastings said that he could think of 
no better way to cope with chronic complainers than to invite them to improve what they 
criticized.”  The creation of city commissions had begun, and within one year Highland Park had 
commissions for Ravinia improvements, Christmas caroling, historic records of past mayors, and 
building codes.  Though the city has since switched to a Council-based form of government, the 
impacts of Mr. Hastings’ contributions can be seen in the 19 existing city commissions. 
 
Samuel Hastings was a remarkable person aside from his impacts as a mayor.  He moved with 
his second wife into 1346 Waverly Place (then 812 Waverly) in 1925 following the death of his 
first wife three years earlier.  Mr. Hastings was offered a nomination as President of the United 



States, but declined.  Likewise with the State Governorship, which he stood a good chance of 
winning1.  Mr. Hastings was very active in manufacturing and industrial trade groups and, as 
President of the Illinois Manufacturers’ Association, exchanged letters with President Wilson 
about a tariff commission and trade relations between the U.S. and foreign countries.   
 
Mr. Hastings passed away in 1942.  Shortly thereafter the property on Waverly Place was 
purchased by Louis Duman, who lived there until 2009.  Louis Duman was a philanthropist and 
businessman whose Microenterprise Center and Loan Fund at the Jewish Vocational Service 
helped launch hundreds of small businesses in the region.  According to his obituary in the 
Jewish United Fund News, Mr. Duman started his own business, Advance Transformer, in 
Chicago in 1945.  The company manufactured ballasts for fluorescent lighting.  It was later 
acquired by a larger company, but Mr. Duman stayed on as CEO until his retirement in 1984.  
He donated generously to non-profit organizations in the area, and was a part owner of both the 
Chicago White Sox and the Chicago Bulls.  Louis Duman passed away in Highland Park 
Hospital in November, 2009. 
 
The original construction of the house at 1346 Waverly Place predates the City’s building permit 
archive.  The oldest record in the City’s archives showing work at 1346 Waverly Place is the 
1925 building permit for a 600-square foot garage.  The property owner is listed as Samuel 
Hastings, so he appears to have built this shortly after he moved in.   
 
After Louis Duman took ownership, a building permit from 1961 indicates that he built an 
addition designed by Swanson & Associate.  The cost of the project was $43,500, and the City’s 
microfilm archive contains drawings for the work.  The drawings will be available for viewing at 
the April 14th HPC meeting. 
 
In 1987, Mr. Duman had another addition put on the house.  This design was by Grunsfeld & 
Associates and cost $112,000.  The architectural drawings for the work are in the City’s 
microfilm archive and will be available for viewing at the April 14th HPC meeting..  A one-story 
spa addition was added in 2002, designed by Grunsfeld Schafer Architects, for a swimming pool 
used for physical therapy. 
 
As mentioned, the 1987 addition was designed by Grunsfeld & Associates, which was the firm 
of Ernest Alton Grunsfeld, III from 1965 – 2001.  Grunsfeld is a regional architect of importance 
and, according to the Granacki Historical Surveys, Ernest Grunsfeld, III designed ten houses in 
the Central East survey area.  Six are in the International Style, one is Miesian style, and three 
were ranch-style houses.  They were all built from the 1960’s through the 1990’s.  His father, 
Ernest Grunsfeld, Jr., was also a Highland Park architect with significant houses in the City. 
 
Here are the landmark criteria as they appear in Chapter 24, “Historical Preservation”.  The 
Commission is asked to discuss whether any of the standards are met by the structure at 1346 
Waverly Place. 
 
 
 
                                                 
1 Suburb to Commuter: The History of Highland Park, Rotary of Highland Park, 1958, pg. 157 



Landmark Criteria 
Below are the landmark criteria from the City Code: 
 
1) It demonstrates character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or cultural 

characteristics of the City, county, state, or country. 
 

2) It is the site of a significant local, county, state, or national event. 
 

3) It is associated with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the development of 
the City, County, State, or Country. 

 
4) It embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural and/or landscape style valuable 

for the study of a specific time period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous 
materials. 

 
5) It is identifiable as the work of a notable builder, designer, architect, artist, or landscape 

architect whose individual work has influenced the development of the City. 
 

6) It embodies, overall, elements of design, details, materials, and/or craftsmanship that renders 
it architecturally, visually, aesthetically, and/or culturally significant and/or innovative. 

 
7) It has a unique location or it possesses or exhibits singular physical and/or aesthetic 

characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature. 
 

8) It is a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian structure or group of such structures, 
including, but not limited to farmhouses, gas stations or other commercial structures, with a 
high level of integrity and/or architectural, cultural, historical, and/or community 
significance. 

 
9) It possesses or exhibits significant historical and/or archaeological qualities. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments 
Location Map 
Site Photos 
American Carpenter & Builder Article (1913) 
 
 
 















MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  May 12, 2011 
 
To:  Historic Preservation Commission 
 
From: Andy Cross, Planner II 
   
Subject: Proposed Demolition of 115 South Deere Park Drive 

 
 
A demolition application has been submitted for the house located at 115 South Deere Park 
Lane. Known as the Lionel Nathan House, it was built in 1952 and represents an unaltered 
example of the mid-century Ranch Style.  The house has a “S – Significant” rating in the 
Architectural Survey and was designed by James Eppenstein.  There are no records of any 
alterations or work on the property for the last 60 years, indicating that the house is unchanged 
from the original design.  Photographs of the house are included in the attachments to this memo.  
The petitioner has indicated that the house requires significant restoration on the interior and will 
present documentation at the HPC meeting on May 12th. 
 
As the graphic above illustrates, the house sits on a double lot.  Each lot is over 20,000 square 
feet, which exceeds the lot size minimum of 12,000 square feet for a buildable lot in the R5 
Single-Family zoning district where the South Deere Park Drive neighborhood is located.  This 
means that each lot can be developed separately without requiring any zoning relief. 

Address: 115 South Deere Park Drive 
Built: 1952 
Style: Ranch 

Structure: Single Family Residence 
Architect: James Eppenstein 
Historic Name: Lionel Nathan House 

Original Cost: N/A 

Alterations:  No major alterations 

Staff 
Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the 
Commission discuss the 
structure at 115 South Deere 
Park Drive and how it may 
satisfy any of the landmark 
criteria listed below. 



 
James F. Eppenstein 

 
Eppenstein was a Chicago-area architect who lived from 1897 to 1955 and is associated with 
Modernist and International architectural styles.  According to information in the 2004 Braeside 
Area Architectural Resources survey by Granacki Historic Consultants, Eppenstein studied 
architecture at Harvard University and the Ecole des Beaux Arts.  He also studied furniture 
design in Berlin at the Hochschule für Frei und Angewandte Kunst before returning to Chicago 
in 1932.  Eppenstein has at least ten patents in his name for different types of furniture, including 
an early hide-a-bed and a unique ashtray. 
 
While none of Eppenstein’s work in Highland Park has been landmarked, there are several well-
known structures that he designed.  401 Woodland Road is an International style house that was 
featured in a 1936 issue of Architectural Forum.  214 Cedar, also in the International Style, was 
built in 1941/42 and has a “Significant” historical status.  Importantly, 115 South Deere Park 
Drive also has a “Significant” status. 
 
In Highland Park’s Architectural Surveys, James Eppenstein is credited with the design of 7 
single-family houses in a variety of architectural styles: 
 

Address Style Year Built Condition Status 
1446 Waverly Road Ranch 1954 good NC 
401 Woodland Road International 1935 good C 
90 Lakewood Place Contemporary 1940 Demolished March, 2010 

115 South Deere Park Drive Ranch 1952 good Significant
194 Cedar French Eclectic 1941 good C 
214 Cedar International 1941 good Significant

345 Cedar French Eclectic 1936 good C 
 
Overall, the stock of Eppenstein houses is in good condition.   Only one house, 90 Lakewood 
Place, has been demolished.  The house had undergone two additions that were unsympathetic to 
the original design, so the Commission approved it for demolition in March, 2010. 
 
The historic name of 115 South Deere Park Drive is the “Lionel Nathan House”.  Mr. Nathan 
passed away recently at the age of 96.  According to his obituary, he was the co-founder and 
president of the Chicago Industrial Supply Company.   He was also a longtime board member of 
the Michael Reese Hospital (now closed) and the Anti-Defamation League.    
 
Landmark Criteria 
Below are the landmark criteria from the City Code: 
 
1) It demonstrates character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or cultural 

characteristics of the City, county, state, or country. 
 

2) It is the site of a significant local, county, state, or national event. 
 



3) It is associated with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the development of 
the City, County, State, or Country. 

 
4) It embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural and/or landscape style valuable 

for the study of a specific time period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous 
materials. 

 
5) It is identifiable as the work of a notable builder, designer, architect, artist, or landscape 

architect whose individual work has influenced the development of the City. 
 

6) It embodies, overall, elements of design, details, materials, and/or craftsmanship that renders 
it architecturally, visually, aesthetically, and/or culturally significant and/or innovative. 

 
7) It has a unique location or it possesses or exhibits singular physical and/or aesthetic 

characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature. 
 

8) It is a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian structure or group of such structures, 
including, but not limited to farmhouses, gas stations or other commercial structures, with a 
high level of integrity and/or architectural, cultural, historical, and/or community 
significance. 

 
9) It possesses or exhibits significant historical and/or archaeological qualities. 
 
 
 
Recommended Action 
The Commission is asked to review the structure per the Landmark Criteria listed above.  If the 
Historic Preservation Commission determines that the Structure that is the subject of the 
Demolition Application satisfies “one or two of the Landmark Standards, then the Commission 
shall have a 180-day review period, commencing on the Application Completion Date, within 
which to receive applications for Landmark nominations for the Structure.” (Chapter 170 of the 
City Code) 
 
 

Attachments 
Location Map 
Site Photos 
Architectural Survey Entry 
 



















MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  May 12, 2011 
 
To:  Historic Preservation Commission 
 
From: Andy Cross, Planner II 
   
Subject: Proposed Demolition of 521 Clavey Lane 

 

 
A demolition application has been submitted for the house located at 521 Clavey Lane.  The 
house was built in 1954 at a cost of $22,000.  The 1,927 square foot house sits on .62 acres, and 
is located across Highway 41 from the Crossroads Shopping Center. 
 
Edward P. Stein owned the lot and designed the Ranch house.  Julia Johnas was helpful in 
locating the following biographical information about him:  Mr. Stein was born in Chicago in 
1893 and lived there most of his life.  His World War I and World War II draft cards list Chicago 
addresses.  He appears to have designed the house in the early 50’s and moved up to Highland 
Park.  The AIA directories from that era do not contain an entry for Edward Stein, so he may not 
have been a member of the AIA when he designed 521 Clavey Lane. 
 
Mr. Stein married Alma Reinecke in 1921.  Her 1970 obituary mentions 521 Clavey Lane as her 
place of residence, indicating they lived there for many years after the house was built.  Edward 

Address: 521 Clavey Lane 
Built: 1954 
Style: Ranch 

Structure: Single Family Residence 
Architect: Edward R. Pierce 
Owner: Edward R. Pierce 
Contractor: H.C. Ericksen 

Original Cost: $22,000 

Alterations:  No major alterations 

Staff 
Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the 
Commission discuss the 
structure at 521 Clavey Lane 
and how it may satisfy any of 
the landmark criteria listed 
below. 



Stein died in August, 1980 in Sun City, Arizona, though no obituary could be located.  The 
house appears to have been rented out in recent years, as the only files in the building department 
were from a zoning enforcement action undertaken in response to some inconsistency with 
garbage removal on the part of the tenants. 
 
The microfilm archive contains Mr. Stein’s drawings for the house.  An examination revealed 
that the house has changed very little from the time it was built.   
 
Landmark Criteria 
Below are the landmark criteria from the City Code: 
 
1) It demonstrates character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or cultural 

characteristics of the City, county, state, or country. 
 

2) It is the site of a significant local, county, state, or national event. 
 

3) It is associated with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the development of 
the City, County, State, or Country. 

 
4) It embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural and/or landscape style valuable 

for the study of a specific time period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous 
materials. 

 
5) It is identifiable as the work of a notable builder, designer, architect, artist, or landscape 

architect whose individual work has influenced the development of the City. 
 

6) It embodies, overall, elements of design, details, materials, and/or craftsmanship that renders 
it architecturally, visually, aesthetically, and/or culturally significant and/or innovative. 

 
7) It has a unique location or it possesses or exhibits singular physical and/or aesthetic 

characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature. 
 

8) It is a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian structure or group of such structures, 
including, but not limited to farmhouses, gas stations or other commercial structures, with a 
high level of integrity and/or architectural, cultural, historical, and/or community 
significance. 

 
9) It possesses or exhibits significant historical and/or archaeological qualities. 
 
Recommended Action 
The Commission is asked to review the structure per the Landmark Criteria listed above.  If the Historic 
Preservation Commission determines that the Structure that is the subject of the Demolition Application 
satisfies “one or two of the Landmark Standards, then the Commission shall have a 180-day review 
period, commencing on the Application Completion Date, within which to receive applications for 
Landmark nominations for the Structure.” (Chapter 170 of the City Code) 
 
 Attachments 

Location Map 
Site Photos 
Original 1954 Building Permit 





















 
MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  May 12, 2011 
 
To:  Historic Preservation Commission 
 
From: Andy Cross, Planner II 
   
Subject: Removal of Landmark Designation for 434 Marshman Street   
 
 
The house at 434 Marshman Street was designated as a local landmark in 1992.  The 
current owner of the property, Mr. Gerard Brown, is petitioning the Historic Preservation 
Commission to remove the landmark status.  
 
The landmark nomination process for 434 Marshman was begun in September, 1991.  A 
nomination form was submitted by Irv Wagner, then the Chairman of the Historic 
Preservation Commission.  According to the nomination form, the “low-slung bungalow 
style house was probably built in the late 20’s and early 30’s.  Interesting stained glass 
and etched glass windows and window configurations make this one of the finest 
bungalows in Highland Park.”  The nomination materials have been included in the 
attachments to this memo. The landmark nomination found that the structure met 
Landmark Criteria #4 and #6: 
 

(4) It embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural 
and/or landscape style valuable for the study of a specific time period, 
type, method of construction or use or indigenous materials; 

 
(6) It embodies, overall, elements of design, detailing, materials, 
and/or craftsmanship that renders it architecturally, visually, 
aesthetically, and/or culturally significant and/or innovative; 

 
 
The owner of the property in 1991, Ms. Janet Steinberg, consented to the landmark 
designation.  In a letter dated 10/31/91, she indicated that she intended to pursue a tax 
freeze on the property, but there is no documentation that one was put into effect at that 
time.  Importantly, there is no tax freeze on the property currently. 
 
The current property owner, Mr. Brown, has submitted a formal request to have the 
landmark designation for 434 Marshman removed.  Mr. Brown initiated contact with City 
Staff earlier this year and was sent a letter dated March 14, 2011 outlining the process 
and required information to move forward with the request.  The letter is included in the 
attachments. 



 
Mr. Brown has submitted an application that includes a cover letter, the landmark 
nomination form (revised for this petition), and written material substantiating the home 
owner’s request.  The application materials do not address Landmark Criteria #4 and #6 
as they apply to the house currently, or how they may no longer be appropriate or present 
on the property.  The application addresses current economic hardships associated with 
the property, an interpretation of Highland Park’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, a 
disagreement with the 1991 Landmark Nomination, concluding remarks, and two 
exhibits. 
    
Chapter 24 of the City Code, the Historic Preservation Ordinance, contains the following 
provision for the removal of a landmark designation: 
 

Removal of Landmark Designation. 
 

(1) Automatic Removal of Landmark Designation: The Landmark designation of a 
Property, Structure, Area, Object, or Landscape of Significance that has been demolished in 
accordance and compliance with all applicable City ordinances shall be deemed to have 
been automatically removed as of the date of demolition. 

 
(2) Condition Precedent for City Council Removal of Landmark Designation: 

Under no circumstances shall the City Council remove the Landmark designation for any 
Property,  Structure, Area, Object, or Landscape of Significance unless it finds that the 
reasons for which the Landmark designation was once appropriate are no longer present. 
Nothing herein shall be deemed or interpreted as requiring the City Council to remove the 
Landmark designation upon such a finding. 

 
The process for removing a landmark status is similar to the process for granting it.  The 
Commission, by a majority vote and a resolution, must find that “the reasons for which 
the Landmark designation was once appropriate are no longer present.”  The 
Commission would vote on a Resolution recommending this finding to the City Council.  
The Council would discuss the recommendation at a future meeting and ultimately vote 
on an Ordinance to remove the landmark designation, much the same way as when a 
landmark status is granted. 
 
The Historic Preservation Commission is authorized to discuss the landmark criteria that 
framed the 1991 landmark nomination for 434 Marshman and whether or not they are 
still present on the property.  The Commission may also comment on the historical 
background of the structure and discuss any alterations and other topics relevant to the 
property.  The Commission is under no obligation, however, to discuss the legal validity 
of Chapter 24 of the City Code, “Historic Preservation”, or legal precedent within the 
State of Illinois as it relates to historic preservation, as presented in the petitioner’s 
application. 
 
A search of building permits for 434 Marshman revealed that a fence permit was issued 
in 2005 and tree removal permits were applied for in 2006 and 2009.  No other alterations 
have been undertaken. 
 



 
Recommended Action 
The Historic Preservation Commission is asked to discuss the request to remove the 
Landmark Designation from the structure at 434 Marshman Street.  The Commission can 
approve the request and direct staff to prepare the necessary resolution for the 
Commission, continue the item to a future meeting, or make a finding that the reasons for 
which the Landmark designation was once appropriate are still present.  
 
Attachments: 
 Application Materials for the Removal of the Landmark Designation at 434 

Marshman Street  
 Letter from City Staff, dated March 14, 2011 
 1991 Landmark Nomination Documentation 
 Architectural Survey Entry – 434 Marshman Street 

 
 
 
 

















   

CITY OF HIGHLAND PARK 
Highland Park, Illinois  60035  (847) 432-0800 

 

 
 
 
March 14, 2011 
 
 
Gerard Brown 
434 Marshman Street 
Highland Park, IL   60035 
 
 
Gerard: 
I’ve had a chance to look over the requirements for your request to have the landmark designation 
on your house removed.  First, enclosed please find an application for a Landmark Nomination.  I 
have made a few changes on it and filled in some information for you, but please take a moment 
to fill out the rest.  Importantly, the application has a large area in the middle where you will need 
to list the reasons “for which the Landmark designation was one appropriate are no longer 
present.”   
 
Chapter 24 of the City Code contains the section that covers the removal of a landmark 
designation.  It is as follows: 
 
 
(K) Removal of Landmark Designation. 
 
 (1) Automatic Removal of Landmark Designation.  The Landmark 
designation of a Property, Structure, Area, Object, or Landscape of Significance that 
has been demolished in accordance and compliance with all applicable City 
ordinances shall be deemed to have been automatically removed as of the date of 
demolition. 
 
 (2) Condition Precedent for City Council Removal of Landmark 
Designation.  Under no circumstances shall the City Council remove the Landmark 
designation for any Property, Structure, Area, Object, or Landscape of Significance 
unless it finds that the reasons for which the Landmark designation was 
once appropriate are no longer present.  Nothing herein shall be deemed or 
interpreted as requiring the City Council to remove the Landmark designation upon 
such a finding. 
 
 
I have also enclosed the City Council Ordinance, the Historical Preservation Commission 
Resolution, and other information documenting the landmark designation.  As you’ll see, in 1992 
the HPC found that the structure satisfied Landmark Criteria 4 & 6.    They are as follows: 
 



(4) It embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural and/or 
landscape style valuable for the study of a specific time period, 
type, method of construction or use or indigenous materials; 
 

The documentation identifies the house as one of the finest 
bungalows in Highland Park, and also an excellent 
example of Craftsman Style architecture, which was 
popular in the 1920’s.  The house is also listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places. 

 
(5) It embodies, overall, elements of design, detailing, materials, 

and/or craftsmanship that renders it architecturally, visually, 
aesthetically, and/or culturally significant and/or innovative; 

 
The landmark nomination identifies the stained glass 
and etched glass windows, and the unique window 
configuration. 

 
When the Historic Preservation Commission reviews your application at an upcoming meeting, 
they will discuss whether or not these criteria still apply to the structure.  As part of your 
application, it would be in your interest to identify why these criteria no longer apply.  You are 
welcome to submit photographs or any other documentation in addition to the enclosed 
application. 
 
In closing, please understand that the City Code is clear about what findings are required to 
remove the Landmark Designation.  We cannot move forward to the Historic Preservation 
Commission with just your letter and without any additional documentation stating that “the 
reasons for which the Landmark designation was once appropriate are no longer 
present.”   
 
Please submit the completed application and all additional materials by Monday, March 21, 
2011, to remain on the agenda for the April 14th meeting of the Historic Preservation 
Commission.  If you need additional time to assemble additional materials, your application can 
appear at the meeting in May. 
 
 
If you have any questions about the process or what materials may be appropriate to bring to the 
Commission, I can be reached at (847) 926-1856. 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
Andy Cross 
Planner II 
City of Highland Park 
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HIGHLAND PARK ~ruLTIPLE RESOURCE INVENTORY SHEET 

PROPERTY NAME Albert Campbell House --------------------------------------------------------------------------
ADDRESS _________ 4_3_4 __ M_ar_s_hm __ a_n __________ CITY/TOWN/VICINITY ____ H_i_g_h_l_an_d __ P_a_r_k ______ _ 

Lake STATE Illinois ZIP 60035 ----------------------- ------------ --------------------------COUNTY 

OWNER'S NAME Jules and Janet Steinberg 
--------------------------------------------------------------------

ADDRESS _________ 4_3_4_M_a_r_s_hm __ a_n _______ CITY/TOWN/VICINITY Highland Park 

STATE Illinois ZIP 60035 -------------
LOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION Deerfield Township Assessor's Office 

600 Laurel Avenue 
Highland Park, Illinois 60035 

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 100'x178' South-east corner of Marshman & Judson 

PIN: 16-25-315-001 

APPROXIMATE ACREAGE , 1/3 acre 

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION unknown ARCHITECT AND/OR BUILDER unknown -------------------------------
ARCHITECTURAL STYLE (IF RELEVANT) Turn of century California Arts and Crafts. 

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION 
OF BUILDING AND 
PROPERTY 

OVERALL CONDITION: 

INTEGRITY: 

The house is set in a moderately wooded lot which is chain-
link fenced and hedged. A simple iron gate exposes the 

center of the north side of the house, revealing the etched and 

colored leaded glass w1ndows and circular planting in what was 

formerly a concrete fish pond. The low-slung bungalow style 

house was probably bU1lt shortly after the turn of the century, 

with 2 main additions in the late 20's and early 30's. The 

roof 1S asphalt to look like wood shingles. The narrow clapboards 

and tr1m are painted shite. There are three low-pitched gables, 

each of varying height on north front of the house. 

EXCELLENT X 

UNALTERED 

GOOD FAIR 

ALTERED X 

DETERIORATED RUIN 

DATE AND NATURE OF ALTERATIONS: November 1927. Major addition at west end of 
house, cfiang1ng entry way and maJor room use, by E.B. Metzler, 

3113 EI1see, Zlon. In 30's, the second owner red1d the 

bathrooms and exter10r groundscapes and garages. 



ALTERATIONS {cont'd} In the 60's the present owner remodeled kitchen and 
--------------------------------------------------------------------enclosed porch area. 

USE: ORIGINAL USE Single family residence 
--------------------------------------------------------

PRESENT USE ____________ s_i_n_g_l_e __ f_a_m_i_l_y __ r_e_s_i_d_e_n_c_e ____________________ ___ 

OUTBUILDINGS AND/OR OTHER CULTURAL RESOURCES ON PROPERTY (ATTACH SKETCH PLAN IF APPLICABLE 

HISTORICAL AND/OR 
ARCHITECTURAL 
SIGNIFICANCE 

FORM PREPARED BY 

Interesting stained glass and etched glass windows and 

window configurations make the house one of the finest 

bungalows in Ravinia. May have been the home of local 

artist and architect Lawrence Buck (undocumented). 

Evie Zwetz 

1050 Wade, Highland Park 

TEL (312)433-3648 
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The Albert Campbell House 434 Marshman HiGhland Park 
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